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A River Basin Surveys field crew surveying in the Garrison Reservoir area, McLean County, North Dakota
(RBS photograph 32MN11-1).
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Excavations in progress in the early 1950s at the Cheyenne River site in the Oahe Reservoir area, Stanley
County, South Dakota. Note the field camp on the distant horizon (RBS photograph 39ST1-110).
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Fort Randall Dam under construction on the Missouri River in South Dakota. This was one of five massive
dams constructed along the Missouri by the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers in the 1940s through the 1960s
(RBS photograph 39CHO00-59).
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River Basin Surveys crews sometimes traveled to sites by water. These boats hold the crews of River Basin
Surveys archeologists Oscar Mallory and Robert Neuman, who worked at sites in the Oahe Reservoir in
Dewey County, South Dakota, during the summer of 1963 (RBS photograph 39DWO00-127).



Preface

Nineteen ninety-nine marks the thirtieth anniversary of the establishment of the Midwest
Archeological Center, a professional support office of the Midwest Region of the National
Park Service. Thirty years earlier, the Center was created from the staff and facilities of the
former Missouri Basin Project office of the River Basin Surveys program of the Smithsonian
Institution, which was established in Lincoln, Nebraska, in 1946. During the first half-dozen
years of its existence, the Midwest Archeological Center continued the mission of its predecessor,
the Missouri Basin Project: “emergency” or “salvage” archeology at water resource development
projects within the vast Missouri River Basin, primarily along the Missouri River in North and
South Dakota. For nearly thirty years, these two offices oversaw the investigation and recovery
of archeological data threatened by the water resource development programs of other federal
bureaus, primarily the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers and the Bureau of Reclamation. As a
result of new federal legislation as well as program shifts within the National Park Service, the
Center’s mission, funding sources, and organizational structure changed over time. Eventually
the Center evolved into an office designed solely to support the archeological resource
management responsibilities of National Park System areas. After 1975, it no longer engaged
in archeological salvage investigations in conjunction with water resource development projects.

Together, the stories of these two offices represent a rich tradition of archeological research in
America’s heartland. What follows is a brief review of the role of the Missouri Basin Project
and the Midwest Archeological Center in the Interagency Archeological Salvage Program
between 1946 and 1975. The history of the River Basin Surveys program has been summarized
by Jesse D. Jennings and James R. Glenn, but their papers do not focus exclusively on the
Missouri Basin Project. The present work grew out of an effort initiated by the author several
years ago to compile an administrative history of the Midwest Archeological Center, an under-
taking that is still incomplete. However, two articles and this review have resulted fo date.

This brief history has been compiled largely from records that survive at the Midwest Arche-
ological Center. Documents archived at the National Archives and the National Anthropological
Archives in Washington, D.C., as well as at the National Park Service’s Harpers Ferry Center
in West Virginia, were also utilized. Unfortunately, lack of funding precluded the author from
visiting these repositories in person, forcing a reliance on correspondence and telephone calls
to identify relevant holdings. Consequently, important documentation was undoubtedly
overlooked because of this limitation, but may someday fill the gaps that are evident in the
information presented below.

Many individuals assisted this retrospective in different ways. F.A. Calabrese provided encour-
agement and made available his extensive personal archive of documents dating back to his
1973 arrival at the Center. Mark J. Lynott also provided encouragement and volunteered to
search for key documents at the National Anthropological Archives during visits to Washington,
D.C. W. Raymond Wood and the late Wilfred D. Logan furnished documents from their personal
archives and shared their memories of important events in the Center’s history. Dr. Wood also
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graciously allowed me to select prints from his personal photograph archive, as did Robert K.
Nickel. Wilfred M. Husted loaned a photograph of his 1969 Fort Union Trading Post excavation
crew for inclusion. Lawrence Tomsyck, former Administrative Officer of both the Missouri
Basin Project and the Midwest Archeological Center, also shared his recollections. Special
thanks are due Bobbie H. Ferguson of the Bureau of Reclamation for sharing archival documents
she discovered during her own research into the history of the archeological salvage program
and for clarifying my understanding of the complex arrangements by which the salvage program
was funded. The late Robert L. Stephenson and Jesse D. Jennings read and offered comment
on drafts of this paper, as did J.J. Hoffman, William B. Butler, Stanley A. Ahler, and W. Raymond
Wood. Calvin R. Cummings, David Nathanson, and Douglas R. Givens provided information
for the study. Richard E. Jensen helped identify River Basin Surveys staff in photographs.
Gratitude is extended to all of these individuals.

Recently a number of reminiscent articles by persons who participated in Interagency Archeo-
logical Salvage Program work in the Missouri River Basin have appeared if pgkititles of

this nature, which hopefully will continue to be published, illuminate the personal experience
of doing archeological salvage work in the Plains and complement the program history pre-
sented in this study.

What follows is only a general summary of the history of the Interagency Archeological Sal-
vage Program and the interrelationships that developed among the participating organizations.
The salvage program was of long duration, organizationally complex, geographically far rang-
ing, and highly productive of research results. Its operation and resulting contributions to
knowledge can be assessed from a number of perspectives, both historically and scientifically.
A detailed history of the program, or of the specific involvement of any of its participating
organizations, remains to be written.

Notes

1 Jennings 1985; Glenn 1994.

2 Thiessen 1994a, 1994b.

3 For example, Wood and Hoffman 1994; Solecki 1994; Wood 1995; Hurt 1995; Gradwohl
1997; Grange 1997.
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A rented house provided a “first-class” field camp for a University of Kansas crew working in the Fort Randall
Reservoir area, Lyman County, South Dakota, during the summer of 1953 (courtesy of W. Raymond Wood).
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Robert L. Stephenson served as Chief of the Missourin Basin Project from 1952 through 1963 (RBS photograph
00-L643).

Warren W. Caldwell served as Chief of the Missouri Basin Project from 1963 through 1969 and as Director
of the RBS from 1966 through 1969 (RBS photograph 00-L1012).



Early Antecedents

The Missouri Basin Project and the Midwest Archeological Center were both important parts of
the Interagency Archeological Salvage Program that originated in 1945. Following is a brief re-
view of the federal government’s involvement in archeology during the work relief programs of
the 1930s and early 19408xperiences gained from New Deal—era archeological work greatly
helped shape the way the federal government and the archeological community approached
archeology after \&fld War 1l. The result was the Interagency Archeological Salvage Program.

Work Relief Programs

Widespread unemployment during the economic depression of the 1930s led to massive federal
efforts to create employment for thousands of unemployed laborers. Several “make-work”
programs were established for this purpose, most of them designed to rehabilitate and otherwise
improve parks and other public lands throughout the nation, thereby benefiting the public good
in ways other than simply reducing unemployment. Several of these programs used archeological
excavations as one of the vehicles for work relief. Federally sponsored archeological excavations
could utilize large amounts of labor, would not compete with private industry, and would further
the goals of science by increasing public knowledge of the' phgist of these archeological
projects occurred in the southeastern part of the nation, where unemployment was rife and mild
weather permitted outdoor work through the winter mofths.

Several federal work relief programs utilized archeology in the achievement of thei? goals.
The first major archeological fieldwork undertaken under the auspices of a work relief program,
the Federal Emergency Relief Administration (FERA), was initiated at Marksville, Louisiana,

in August of 1933. Another early work relief program to sponsor archeological investigations
was the Civil Works Administration (CWA), which was established in November1338B8ough

the CWA, about 1,500 people were employed on eleven archeological projects in Florida, Georgia,
North Carolina, Tennessee, and Califofniihe CWA was also the source of labor used for the
massive archeological salvage efforts necessitated by the Tennessee Valley Authority (TVA),
one of the earliest water resource development projects of the federal government that recognized
the need to recover and record archeological data that would be endangered as a result of dam
construction. As the scientific research arm of the federal government, the Smithsonian Insti-
tution assumed responsibility for technical supervision of the CWA and TVA archeological
research efforts and furnished field directors to oversee the projects. Although the “make-
work” archeological programs were considered successful at the time from both political and
scientific viewpoints, the CWA was designed only to be a short-lived work relief program,
which ended on March 31, 1984After the end of the Civil Works Administration, archeological

work continued under the auspices of the FERA.

The CWA was soon followed by a longer-lived relief program called the Works Progress
Administration (WPA), which was established in August 1935 after passage of the Emergency
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Relief Appropriation Act in April of that yed?. Archeological work was a component of the
WPA program, but unlike the earlier CWA, local project sponsors were required to make a 25
percent contribution to the total cost of proposed projects, foreshadowing the cost-sharing
arrangement between federal and non-federal parties that participated in the Interagency
Archeological Salvage Program of the 1950s and 1960s. Project proposals were reviewed for
scientific merit by the Smithsonian Institution and the National Park Service, which had recently
been given responsibility for surveying the nation’s archeological and historical resources under
the Historic Sites Act of 193%. Beginning in early 1936, numerous WPA archeological projects
were conducted, some of them of quite large scale. Many of these projects were located in the
South and some of them continued to be linked to the salvage needs of the TVA ptogram.
WPA archeological projects were also conducted elsewhere in the nation, but these have not
been as comprehensively described as those performed in the South. The pressures of a wartime
economy following the entrance of the United States into World War |l resulted in the end of
WPA support for archeology early in 19%2.

Archeological investigations were also conducted under the auspices of another Depression-era
relief program, the Civilian Conservation Corps (CCC), but to a much more limited extent than
in the CWA and WPA progranis.

The archeology that was accomplished under the New Deal relief programs has been often
assessett. Griffin has enumerated fourteen specific benefits of this work to arche6logy.
Most archeologists agree that the advances in knowledge that resulted from this work were
enormous and that the “make-work” programs gave invaluable training and experience to a
generation of archeologists who later went on to follow eminent and productive careers in the
field. However, the New Deal archeology has also been harshly criticized. It has been asserted
that the overall research effort between 1933 and 1942 suffered from lack of central direction,
insufficient numbers of trained supervisory personnel, administrative ineptness, publication
lag, and scattering and even loss of the resultantdatiany of these problems were recognized

and caused concern soon after the inception of the FERA and CWA phases of archeological
researci® Given the fact that the objective of the work relief programs was to reduce
unemployment and not to stimulate archeological research, the results of the “make-work”
archeology could not have been entirely satisfactory to the discipline of archeology. For example,
over 90 percent of the funding for the CWA program was used for salaries for field personnel,
making it virtually impossible to follow up with timely analysis and reportin@.onsequently,

it took years for much of the work relief investigations to be written up, and some of them are
still not reported to this day.

The experience gained from the work relief programs soon mobilized the archeological profession
to seek a way to prevent the same problems from recurring in the future. As early as 1939, the
National Research Council appointed a committee to review the results of the WPA archeological
work and recommend ways to avoid the problems that attended the New Deal archeological
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efforts?® Chaired by William Duncan Strong, the Committee on Basic Needs in Archaeology
consisted of Carl Guthe, Clark Wissler, A.V. Kidder, Fay-Cooper Cole, W.C. McKern, J.O.
Brew, and W.S. Webb, many of the leading anthropologists and archeologists ofthéltiay.
Committee published a statement that same year, in which it defined the “minimum requirements
of scientific archeology” and indirectly addressed many of the shortcomings of the work relief
archeological experienéé. Echoing concerns expressed earlier by Setzler and Strong about
the diminishing nature of the nation’s archeological resource base, the Committee’s statement
also identified a need for “national conservation” of archeological sites and called for the National
Park Service to take a prominent role in preserving sites for the féiture.

The Committee for the Recovery of Archaeological Remains

The recommendations of the Committee on Basic Needs in Archaeology regarding federal
sponsorship of archeological programs did not fall on deaf ears. As the Second World War
neared its end, Frank H.H. Roberts, Jr., and Julian Steward, both anthropologists employed by
the Smithsonian Institution, made enquiries of federal officials about federal reservoir
construction projects that were being planned for construction after the war. What they learned
caused archeologists in the Washington, D.C., area to become alarmed at the scope of the
ambitious reservoir construction programs on the drawing boards of the Corps of Engineers and
the Bureau of Reclamatidf. Roberts and Steward discussed the situation with Strong, Frederick
Johnson, and J.O. Breétvand the matter was raised for discussion at the annual meeting of the
Society for American Archaeology held in Washington on May 13, 3942n July 20, 1944,

the Society established a “Planning Committee” to review the results and problems of the WPA
investigationg’ The Committee, chaired by Frederick Johnson with James B. Griffin and Emil
W. Haury as members, was also charged with considering “any other policies pertinent to the
welfare of American Archaeology, or of this Socie¥.Implicit in this charge was a desire not

to repeat the problems of the work relief archeological experience in any future federally
sponsored archeological programs.

The Planning Committee met with members of the Committee on Basic Needs in Archaeology
and other Washington-area archeologists on January 8-132°19#5report was presented to

the Society for American Archaeology at the organization’s annual meeting on May 19, 1945.
The report offered several recommendations for future federally supported archeological
programs “which are in any way analogous” to the relief-era archeological programs: (1) a
“guiding force” should be established to provide central direction to the effort; (2) the professional
personnel engaged in such programs should not be burdened with administrative responsibilities,
but rather should remain free to concentrate their attention on archeological matters; (3) properly
gualified organizations and personnel should be selected; and (4) analysis and reporting of
research should be completed for each project b&gliralso reported that the January meeting

and subsequent discussions through March 1945 had resulted in the establishment in April of
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another committee, the Committee for the Recovery of Archaeological Remains (CRAR), to
give explicit guidance to the salvage effort that would be required by the postwar reservoir
construction progranid. In effect, the CRAR became the “guiding force” that was recommended
by the Planning Committee for future federal archeological programs. The Committee held its
first meeting in May 194%

One of the first formal public statements of the newly formed CRAR was soon forthcoming. A
resolution was published in the July 13, 1945, issuscidéncewhich called for legislatively
mandated “adequate conservation of archeological resources” in federal water resource project
areas and offered five explicit guidelines as to how such an effort should be staffed and #perated.
The resolution was multi-organizational in nature and was signed by William Duncan Strong on
behalf of the Committee on Basic Needs in Archaeology of the National Research Council, by
Frederick Johnson for the Planning Committee of the Society for American Archaeology, and
by William S. Webb for the Committee for the Recovery of Archaeological Remains.

In the early years of its existence, the CRAR consisted of Frederick Johnson (representing the
Society for American Archaeology), A.V. Kidder and William S. Webb (both representing the
American Council of Learned Societies), and J.O. Brew (on behalf of the American Anthro-
pological Association}® William Duncan Strong and Frank H.H. Roberts, Jr., were appointed

to serve as liaison with the CRAR for the National Research Council and the Smithsonian
Institution, respectivel§( The purposes of the CRAR were: (1) to ensure the development of
an adequate overall organization to the federal salvage effort and (2) to encourage the work to
be performed in accordance with the current standards of the archeological diStiflime.
objective of the advisory group was to ensure the preservation of threatened archeological remains
through systematic excavation, analysis, and publication of the results of reservoir-related
researcli® The Committee stressed the need for timely dissemination of the results of salvage
investigations in order to avoid one of the severest criticisms leveled at the work relief
archeological programs — publication lag.

The composition of the Committee for the Recovery of Archaeological Remains changed
somewhat over the years as members dropped off the committee and new ones wePe added.
One member, J. O. Brew, remained on the committee from its inception through its last formally
scheduled meeting in 1976. Although composed of delegates from three professional
organizations, the CRAR was free to act independently and in accordance with the professional
judgment of its members. It was not tied to any governmental entity and so was free from
political control or pressure. In the early years of the salvage program, the CRAR was very
effective in lobbying for widespread popular and governmental support for the federal salvage
program. This was achieved largely by means of contacts with Congressional and bureau officials,
presentations at professional meetings, and publications aimed at the generét paditer

years, it continued its advisory role by means of annual meetings attended by representatives of
many federal agenciés.
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Notes

Johnson et al. 1945a:143.

Stoltman 1973:136.

Guthe 1952; Stoltman 1973; Haag 1985. Lyon (1996) presents an excellent history of work
relief archeological activities in the southeastern United States. Lyon’s book is largely based
on reorganization and expansion of his 1982 dissertation. The maturation and increasing
political sophistication of American archeology during the work relief era, culminating with
the formation of the Committee for the Recovery of Archaeological Remains, are aptly related
by Fagette (1996).

Lyon 1996:1-4, 28.

Lyon 1996:28.

Stirling 1934.

The Tennessee Valley Authority Act was signed into law on May 18, 1933 (Lyon 1996:37).
Shortly afterward, the archeological salvage program of the TVA was developed at the
instigation of both professional and avocational archeologists, such as William S. Webb, who
subsequently directed the TVA research program, and Burnham Colburn, an Asheville, North
Carolina, banker who was influential with the TVA (Lyon 1982:46-49 and 1996:40; Jesse D.
Jennings, personal communication to Thomas D. Thiessen, October 3, 1991). The TVA
fieldwork began in January 1934 (Lyon 1996:40).

Lyon 1996:30.

Lyon 1996:30; Jesse D. Jennings, personal communication to Thomas D. Thiessen, October
3, 1991.

10 Haag 1985:275; Lyon 1996:63.

11 Lyon 1996:173-174; Kelly 1940:276-277.

12 Haag 1985; Stoltman 1973.

13 Guthe 1952:6; Fagette 1996:125.

14 Haag 1985:278.

15 See Guthe 1952; Stoltman 1973; Griffin 1976; Lyon 1982 and 1996; Haag 1985; and Fagette

1996.

16 Griffin 1976:28.

17 Guthe 1952; Stoltman 1973.

18 Setzler and Strong 1936; see also Johnson et al. 1945a:142-143.
19 Setzler and Strong 1936:306; Lyon 1996:71-73.

20 Johnson 1966:1594; Lyon 1996:71.

21 Guthe 1939:528; Fagette 1996:124.

22 Guthe 1939.

2 Setzler and Strong 1936:307-309; Guthe 1939:529.
24 Lehmer 1971:1.

25 |bid.

26 \Wedel 1944:221.



6 Early Antecedents

27 Johnson et al. 1945b:320.

28 |bid.

29 Johnson et al. 1945a:142; Roberts 1952a:351.

30 Johnson et al. 1945a:142-144.

31 |bid.

32 |bid.; Roberts 1952a:351.

% Johnson 1947:213; see also Johnson et al. 1945a:144.

34 Strong et al. 1945.

% |bid.:143.

% |bid.

37 Ibid.:144.

% Johnson 1947:213.

% Lehmer 1971:2.

40 Charles R. McGimsey (1991:xviii) has stated that the CRAR “died in 1977 largely as a result
of a Carter Administration decision against advisory committees.”

4 Johnson 1966:1595.

42 For example, see Committee for the Recovery of Archaeological Remains 1945, 1958.

43 See, for instance, the minutes of one such meeting in U.S. Department of the Interior, National
Park Service 1974.

The River Basin Surveys pioneered the use of aerial photography to identify and document archeological sites.
Here, investigators confer at the Pierre, South Dakota, airport before taking off on an aerial reconnaissance
(RBS photograph 3900-L114).
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A glimpse of the remains of Fort Stevenson over the tip of an airplane wing. Fort Stevenson, now under the
waters of Garrison Reservoir, was a late-nineteenth-century military post in McLean County, North Dakota
(RBS photograph 32ML1-178).
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Impoundment of water in the five Missouri River mainstem reservoirs induced extensive shoreline erosion and
bank slumpage, processes that continue today. Here, a portion of the Cheyenne River site in Stanley County,
South Dakota, has slumped into the Oahe Reservoir (RBS photograph 39ST1-101).



The Interagency Archeological Salvage Program

As the United States approached the end of World War 1l, American civil works planners prepared
to turn their attention to the construction of many dams which would flood a large part of the
nation’s watercourses. The Flood Control Act was passed in late 1944, which authorized dam
construction on a massive scale throughout the nation. Many of these reservoir projects had
been planned and even authorized before the war, but construction of them was suspended
while the nation was at war. The U.S. Army Corps of Engineers and the Department of the
Interior’s Bureau of Reclamation were the organizations primarily responsible for planning and
constructing these dams. Many of the reservoirs would be quite large, such as the Oahe Reservair,
which would inundate over 300 miles of the Missouri River valley in North and South Dakota.
Four other reservoirs were also planned for the “mainstem” of the upper Missouri. These
would flood most of the remainder of that river valley in the Dakotas, leaving very little of the
Missouri River in anything approaching a natural condition. Hundreds of other reservoirs of
varying sizes were also planned throughout the United States, over 100 of them in the vast
Missouri River Basin (MRB) alone. The specific plan for water resource development in the
MRB was the so-called Pick-Sloan Plan, a blending of two plans independently developed by
the Corps of Engineers and the Bureau of Reclamation.

The archeological community was quick to realize the implications of this intensive program of
dam building for the archeological sites that lay within the nation’s river valleys where eighty
percent of the nation’s archeological resources were estimated to be focadedequently, it
became apparent that many of these sites would be destroyed by dam construction or inundated
below reservoir pools. It was recognized that this would result in the loss of large and irreplaceable
portions of the prehistoric and historic record of past life in the United States. Since construction
of many dams was set to commence as soon as the war was over, the urgency of this danger gave
rise to the concept of “salvage” archeology or, as it is sometimes called, “emergency” archeology.
Salvage archeology is archeology conducted for the purpose of recovering archeological
specimens and data threatened with destruction or flooding. At first stemming solely from
water development projects, the salvage concept was later broadened to include investigations
conducted as a result of highway construction programs, pipeline construction projects, and
many other forms of governmentally sponsored development. The historical “roots” of the
archeological salvage concept lay in the Tennessee Valley Authority excavations of the work
relief era2

The federal salvage archeology effort that emerged after World War Il in response to federal
water resource development programs was called the Interagency Archeological and Paleonto-
logical Salvage Program, later shortened to the Interagency Archeological Salvage Program
(IASP). Created in the late summer and early fall of 1945, the Interagency Archeological Salvage
Program was a multi-agency, cooperative program designed to inventory and assess the
importance of archeological resources in planned reservoir areas and to preserve a portion of
the archeological record in those reservoir areas by conducting excavations at selected sites.
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Participating organizations were the Corps of Engineers and the Bureau of Reclamation as the
nation’s foremost dam-building agencies; the Smithsonian Institution (SI) as the scientific research
arm of the federal government; the National Park Service (NPS) as the federal bureau with
legislatively mandated responsibility for surveying the nation’s archeological and historical
resources; the Committee for the Recovery of Archaeological Remains as the principal advisory
spokesgroup for the archeological profession; and state or local universities, historical societies,
and museums that had both an archeological research capability and an interest in furthering the
goal of the salvage program. A complex set of interrelationships developed among these entities.

The Historic Sites Act of 1935 charged the Secretary of the Interior with responsibility for
identifying potential new historic and archeological areas to add to the National Park System.
This responsibility was carried doy the NPS as the primary federal agency that administered
parks of historical and archeological value. In addition, prior to the 1945 IASP agreement, the
NPS had entered into agreements with the Corps of Engineers and the Bureau of Reclamation to
assist those agencies with planning recreational facilities for their reservoir pfojéhtsse

studies were to be carried out under the authority of the Park, Parkway, and Recreational Study
Act of 19367 As early as May 1945, the NPS was interpreting studies of archeological and
historical resources to be within the purview of its recreational resource studies in reservoir
areas® Consequently, the NPS assumed a major coordinative role in the Interagency
Archeological Salvage Program. Brew has also pointed out that the NPS became the central
coordinating agency for the IASP “Partly because of its convenient regional organization
throughout the country, which coincides roughly with the regional organization of the construction
agencies?

Largely at the instigation of Arthur E. Demaray, then Associate Director of the National Park
Service and an early supporter of the salvage concept, a Memorandum of Understanding between
the NPS and the Sl was developed and approved on October 9, 1945, by the Secretary of the
Interior1® It formally initiated the IASP and defined the relationship between the two bureaus.

It was subsequently replaced by Memoranda of Understanding dated April 27, 1961 (the date of
approval by the Acting Secretary of the Interior), and April 30, 1965, both of which continued
the same basic relationship between the bureaus and clarified certain conditions regarding the
disposition of collections resulting from the programll three agreements included paleonto-
logical, as well as archeological, remains within their scope.

As defined in the 1945 Memorandum of Understanding, the NPS, in the course of its surveys of
recreational resources in Corps of Engineers and Bureau of Reclamation reservoir areas, was to
advise the Sl of the locations of proposed dams and reservoirs. The Smithsonian, in turn, was to
advise the NPS of the “number and importance of the known archeological or paleontological
sites located within such reservoir areas.” Not restricted only to sites that were already recorded,
the Smithsonian was also charged with recommending to the NPS “such surveys in the field as
seem indicated” (i.e., necessary) to identify other, presently unknown archeological and



1 Absaroka 32 Crookston 78 Nelson Buck
SASKATCHEWAN MANITOBA 2 Alzada 38 Crosby 79 Newian
3  Amherst 34 Cushing 80 Nilan
4 Anchor 35 Davis Creek 81 Norton
5 Angostura 36 Deerfield 82 Oahe
6 Antelope 37 Deslacs 83 Onion Flat
7 Apex 38 Devils Lake 84 Oregon Basin
T - 8 Badwater 39 Dickinson 85 Pactola
NORTH DAKOTA 9 Baldhill 40 Du Noir 86 Parks
10 Beacon 41 Edgemont 87 Philip
11 Beliwood 42 Eldridge 88 Pioneer
12 Bemice 43 Eli 89 Plum Creek
13 Bison 44 Enders 90 Pomme de Terre
14 Bixby 45 Ericson 91 Ponca Creek
15 Blue Horse 46 Fort Randall 92 Raft Lake
18 Bonny 47 Garrison 83 Red Guich
17 Box Butte 48 Gavins Point 84  Red Willow
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Missouri River Basin reservoir projeatgere Interagency Archeological Salvage Program (IASP) archeological and/or paleontological invest
took place through December 31, 1951. Most of the dams planned or actually constructed in the Missouri Basin are deggitteldroAdFigure :

in The Archeological and Paleontological Salvage Program in the Missouri Basin, 1950y1P&0| L. Cooper, Smithsonian Miscellaneous Collections,
Vol. 126, No. 2 (1955), Washington, D.C.
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Above: River Basin Surveys excavators working at 39FA83, a prehistoric occupation site in the Angostura
Reservoir area, a Bureau of Reclamation project in Fall River County, southwestern South Dakota. The site
was excavated in 1949 and 1950 (RBS photograph 39FA83-35; courtesy of W. Raymond Wood).

Facing Page, TopA River Basin Surveys créwsily excavating the Sitting Crow site in the Big Bend Reser-
voir area, Buffalo County, South Dakota (RBS photograph 39BF225-169; courtesy of W. Raymond Wood).

Facing Page, BottomMembers of the State Historical Society of North Dakota crew that excavated Kipp's
Post in 1954 standing outside the log cabin that served as their field camp. The crew included (left to right)
Jerry Giddings, W. Raymond Wood, Fred McEvoy, Harold Dietz, Clifford Chapman, and Alan Woolworth
(holding the crew’s mascot, Fishhook). Wood and Woolworth co-directed the work at this 19th-century trad-
ing post site in the Garrison Reservoir area, Mountrail County, North Dakota (courtesy of W. Raymond Wood).
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paleontological resources of potential importance. The NPS would then inform the appropriate
dam-building bureau of the “cultural and paleontological remains that would be lost if thorough
investigation and excavation of the sites are not undertaken sufficiently in advance of the flooding
of the reservoirs.” Nothing in the agreement or its supporting legislation required the constructing
bureaus to fund archeological or paleontological surveys or excavations in connection with
their reservoir projects. Their participation in the IASP was voluatary.

The remaining provisions of the 1945 agreement gave the National Park Service responsibility
for planning exhibition rooms and museum laboratories in reservoir areas. These were to be
used for the processing and display of collections resulting from Interagency Archeological
Salvage Program excavations. The Smithsonian was to advise the NPS on locations suitable for
such facilities. The agreement also established the policy of depositing “important” excavated
materials in the U.S. National Museum, with “duplicate collections” being retained in local
museums. “Surplus” materials from those collections could be placed with other institutions or
museums as jointly decided by the NPS and the Smithsonian Institution.

The language of the 1945 agreement was generally vague and non-explicit about the ultimate
responsibilities of each bureau, but the 1961 and 1965 agreements substantially clarified the
roles of the NPS and the Sl in the IASP and clearly established the legislative and fiscal basis of
the program. Both agreements continued the requirement that the bureaus would swap information
on “any and all reservoirs, planned or authorized,” of which they possessed information. The
NPS was given formal responsibility for requesting funds from Congress for necessary surveys
and excavations in reservoir areas pursuant to the Historic Sites Act of 1935 and the Reservoir
Salvage Act of 1960. For this purpose, the Smithsonian was to furnish the NPS with cost
estimates for such work. The 1961 and 1965 agreements designated the Sl as advisor to the
NPS on the scientific aspects of the IASP and charged the Sl, “within the limits of the funds
transferred to it,” with conducting “its designated part of the program of archeological survey,
excavation, laboratory analysis, and reporting.” The agreements gave the NPS explicit
responsibility for coordinating the overall program and administering the funds which it received
from Congress for the IASP. It clearly presented the NPS with three options to “accomplish the
objectives of the program:” (1) through “its own staff services;” (2) through “research contracts
with qualified educational and scientific institutionarid (3) by transferring funds to the Sl.

The 1961 and 1965 agreements also required the two bureaus to exchange reports of the work
conducted under the auspices of the IASP, and clarified the disposition of certain portions of the
resultant collections — such as “representative series of artifacts,” unique specimens, and artifacts
that have been illustrated in published reports — in the U.S. National Museum. Another provision
also required review of the agreement every three years “so that it can either be revised to fit
new conditions or be terminated if it is no longer desirable.” This provision ultimately played

an important role in the termination of the Smithsonian’s participation in the IASP and the
establishment of the Midwest Archeological Center, as explained in the next two chapters.
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The Missouri River Basin was the scene of the first IASP fieldwork. A sum of $20,000 was
transferred to the NPS by the Bureau of Reclamation in 1946 for work on both Bureau and
Corps of Engineers projects in the MRB, and this was augmented by an additional $40,000 in
1947 Later in 1946 and 1947, the Corps of Engineers and the Bureau of Reclamation both
transferred additional funds to NPS for work outside the MRBhese monies came from
appropriations made to these bureaus for construction or other non-archeological purposes.

The funding arrangements for the IASP became complicated soon after the program was initiated.
During 1946 and 1947, extended discussions were held between Bureau of the Budget officials
and representatives of other bureaus involved in federal water resource development programs
regarding the propriety of funding the archeological work out of appropriations made to the
constructing agencies for construction purposes. At first, most of the participating Department
of the Interior bureaus considered it proper for the construction agencies to pay for the
archeological salvage excavations necessitated by their activities. This view was supported by
advice from Bureau of the Budget officials as well as by a March 27, 1947, Solicitor’s opinion
relating to the Bureau of Reclamation’s Davis Dam project (in Arizona and Nevada) and a
precedent case involving the relocation of water mains and sewers during the construction of
government buildings in Washington, D'C.

The Corps of Engineers repeatedly questioned the legality of these expenditures, maintaining
that the Corps had no statutory authority to expend funds for archeologicaf workSeptember
22,1947, the Secretary of the Army wrote to the Director of the Bureau of the Budget to formally
guestion the existing practice of transferring Corps funds to the NPS for archeological salvage
investigations, pointing out that the NPS, and not the Corps, was legislatively authorized to
conduct archeological researches in the United StatBareau of the Budget officials rethought

the matter and on November 4, 1947, the Acting Assistant Director of the Bureau replied to the
Secretary, stating that

...we have carefully reexamined the legislative background and the history to date of Federal
activity in the field of archeology. On this basis it has now been decided that, unless or
until new legislation on the subject is enacted, future Federal financing of archeological

work on Government-owned lands and in connection with Government construction projects
should be requested from Congress, pursuant to the Historic Sites Act of 1935, upon the
basis of estimates submitted and justified by the Department of the Interior under our regular

budgetary procedurés.

This placed the funding responsibility for the salvage program squarely on the NPS as the
Interior bureau with legislative authority for conducting archeological investigations. In addition,
the broad language of the Bureau of the Budget decision expanded the scope of the Interagency
Archeological Salvage Program to include investigations conducted in connection with the
water resource development projects of federal bureaus other than the Bureau of Reclamation
and the Corps of Engineers, as well as projects of state goverrifnents.
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During the life of the IASP, program administrators maintained a distinction between work
funded and conducted within the MRB and work funded and conducted in river basins outside
the MRB. This was reflected in the fact that NPS received funds from two sources for all of the
salvage program work. Investigations outside the MRB were funded from money requested in
the NPS’s annual budget request to Congress. The water resource development program in the
MRB, however, was viewed as a unified, comprehensive plan in which all of the participating
Department of the Interior bureaus cooperated fiscally under the lead of the Bureau of
Reclamation. Consequently, the several Interior bureaus provided budget estimates to the Bureau
of Reclamation for submittal to Congress as part of the Bureau’s annual budget request; when
received by the Bureau of Reclamation, these monies were transferred to the estimating bureaus.
In the case of the IASP work in the MRB, NPS budget estimates were included in the
“Maintenance and Protection” portion of the Bureau of Reclamation’s budget refjuests.

For over twenty years (1946-1969), the IASP was carried out by two means: investigations
conducted by staff of the SI, through the River Basin Surveys (RBS), a program established
solely for that purpose; and investigations carried out by researchers in universities, museums,
and historical societies. Between 1946 and 1950, the federal government provided no financial
support for research conducted by local “cooperating” institutions, who voluntarily contributed
their services out of a shared sense of emergéndye cooperation of these institutions was
formally recognized through letters issued by the Sl which authorized them to undertake research
at specific sites or reservoir aréasln 1950, however, the NPS began to support their efforts

by diverting a portion of the salvage program appropriation into cooperative agreements with
local institutions who had the willingness and interest to conduct salvage investigations, as well
as the capability of doing $&. These agreements did not bear the full cost of the research,
however, as they were intended only to “defray” the cooperators’ expéng&soperating
institutions were expected to contribute some portion of project costs. This cost-sharing practice
was continued throughout the life of the cooperative aspect of the IASP, until the mid-1970s
when passage of the Archeological and Historic Preservation Act of 1974 authorized all federal
bureaus to fully pay for archeological salvage investigations necessitated by their programs.

In many years, the funds diverted to cooperative agreements or contracts with cooperating
institutions were substantial, particularly for research outside the MRB, where the total of
contracted research funds often far exceeded that allocated to*th&l8s is because in 1952

the NPS took over responsibility for funding salvage investigations outside of the MRB, except
for areas in Virginia, Georgia, and Tennes¥et the MRB, however, the greater part of IASP
funding was always allocated to the Smithsonian Institution (Table 1).

The research conducted by the cooperating institutions was not conducted in a scientific vacuum,
however. It was integrated with the salvage research program of the Smithsonian Institution
through: (1) Smithsonian recommendations for excavations at specific sites; (2) the Smithsonian
making available records from its own researches; (3) the Smithsonian providing technical
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consultation on in-progress work by cooperators; and (4) the NPS disseminating the results of
the cooperators’ research to the SmithsofaWaldo R. Wedel, an early leading figure in the
River Basin Surveys, has reflected that the research efforts of the cooperating institutions “have
always been planned and carried out in coordination with the broader salvage procedures and
objects of the River Basin Surveys and the National Park Sefiddie cooperative aspect of

the IASP has been a valuable and indispensable part of the overall program:

The value of the cooperation provided by non-government institutions cannot be over-
estimated. This more than anything else, indicates the basic interest ordinary citizens have
in the prehistory of the locality in which they litfe.

Not only have the financial contributions of the cooperating institutions to the IASP been sub-
stantial (though untallied), but the increase in knowledge of prehistory resulting from their
research has been considered to be equal to the very considerable scientific advances made by
RBS participation in the Interagency Archeological Salvage Program.

Table 1.Archeological funds appropriated for the Interagency Archeological Salvage Program, 1946-1967.

Missouri River Basin Elsewhere in the US
Fiscal Total Total
Year Amount SI Contracts NPS Amount SI Contracts NPS
1946 20,000 20,000 — — — — — —
1947 41,500 40,000 — 1,500 30,000 27,000 — 3,000
1948 53,000 50,300 — 2,700 29,500 23,500 — 6,000
1949 88,900 81,000 — 7,900 66,900 64,400 — 2,500
1950 220,600 155,140 22,250 43,210 69,169 60,746 7,250 1,173
1951 222,030 121,875 23,000 77,155 75,000 52,500 9,000 13,500
1952 175,000 120,783 37,000 17,217 59,400 29,020 13,800 16,580
1953 165,000 111,065 7,750 46,185 64,000 12,135 13,500 38,365
1954 95,000 64,500 12,750 17,750 53,570 6,995 12,750 33,825
1955 95,000 52,700 11,500 30,800 — — — —
1956 145,000 92,360 11,500 41,140 25,000 — 23,000 2,000

1957 147,500 90,000 21,750 35,750 132,000 18,500 78,510 34,990
1958 208,950 157,624 14,000 37,326 319,900 18,000 229,145 72,755
1959 196,500 137,00 17,200 42,300 353,449 25,000 292,075 36,374
1960 168,480 98,055 19,400 51,025 413,149 24,000 309,100 80,049
1961 172,800 103,895 24,000 44,905 488,600 20,000 428,455 40,145
1962 299,600 204,500 31,500 63,600 589,200 27,205 497,675 64,320

1963 365,000 271,000 25,650 68,350 750,000 — 541,615 208,385
1964 348,700 254,500 39,725 54,475 761,700 — 567,630 194,070
1965 346,300 237,000 56,150 53,150 765,000 — 641,911 123,089
1966 341,000 220,500 44,890 75,610 775,600 — 626,911 123,089
1967 341,000 219,000 58,000 64,000 783,300 — 571,638 211,662

4,256,860 2,902,797 478,015 876,048 6,604,437 409,001 4,863,801 1,331,635

Note: Adapted from “A Review of the River Basin Surveys, Smithsonian Institution, Museum of Natural History for the Ad
Hoc Advisory Committee,” Lincoln, Nebraska, 1968, page 42.
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The River Basin Surveys

The best-known component of the IASP was the River Basin Surveys (RBS), a program
established by the Smithsonian Institution for the sole purpose of carrying out its research
responsibilities in the IASP. The RBS was organized during the fall of 1945 in response to the
1945 Memorandum of Understanding between the National Park Service and the Smithsonian
Institution®! Administratively within the Smithsonian’s organization, it was placed under the
Bureau of American Ethnology, where it remained until February 1, 1965, when the Bureau was
merged into the Smithsonian Office of Anthropology, a newly created division of the Museum
of Natural History with responsibility for all of the anthropological activities of the Muséum.

The River Basin Surveys existed for twenty-four years, from 1945 through mid-1969.

Dr. Frank H.H. Roberts, Jr., Associate Chief of the Bureau, was appointed to be the first Chief
of the RBS, a position he held through October 15, 1963, when he went on sick ldaweas

an excellent choice for the position because of his scientific preeminence and his earlier work
on behalf of the Smithsonian with the Committee for the Recovery of Archaeological Remains
and the NPS in planning and coordinating the start of archeological salvage*efftetaias
succeeded by Robert L. Stephenson (in an acting capacity) and Warren W. Caldwell (Table 2).

Most RBS investigations were conducted from field offices established in Lincoln, Nebraska;

Eugene, Oregon; Berkeley, California; and Austin, Texas, which provided necessary admin-
istrative and laboratory support (Table 3). Investigations in certain states outside of the MRB
were directed from the Washington office of the RBS, and a laboratory was briefly maintained
in Athens, Georgia. All of these offices were established in coope